RECEIVED

Jan 20 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, Business Court Program

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-23-00998
Appellate Case No. 2021-000365

McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Donza H. Mattison, Defendant-Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David E. Rothstein, SC Bar No. 66295
Rothstein Law Firm, PA
1312 Augusta Street
Greenville, SC 29605
drothstein@rothsteinlawfirm.com
(864) 232-5870
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

(1) Did the circuit court err in refusing to stay proceedings on Respondent's declaratory judgment action pending the appeal of Appellant's derivative action claims where the value of Appellant's membership units is inextricably intertwined with the derivative action and where Appellant has challenged the inherent conflict of interest faced by Respondent's counsel in simultaneously representing both the Respondent LLC and the individuals who are the alleged wrong-doers in the derivative action?

(2) Did the circuit court disregard the key sentence in Appellant's Severance Agreement regarding the valuation of her ownership units, which clearly contemplated a two-step process: (1) full disclosure of all financial information about the company as requested by Appellant, followed by (2) a good-faith effort to mutually determine the value of Appellant's units, neither of which Respondent complied with?

(3) Did the circuit court err in refusing to allow Appellant to conduct critical discovery about the management committee's understanding of the Severance Agreement, the extensive negotiations that led up to the final language of the Severance Agreement, and the history of the management committee's using HDH Advisors to manipulate the unit price to serve the interests of the majority bloc of owners, before considering Respondent's motion for summary judgment?

(4) Did the circuit court improperly discount the value of Appellant's membership units for lack of control and marketability, because such discounts were not applied either when Appellant originally purchased her units or when the members unanimously approved the initial valuation of the membership units shortly after the merger?

(5) Did the circuit court err in failing to award pre-judgment interest to Appellant, whose ownership interests should have been purchased in early 2018 per the terms of the Severance Agreement and where Respondent has had use of those capital funds for over three additional years?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is Appellant's second appeal in this lawsuit, which arises out of a dispute over the valuation of Appellant's ownership interests as a member of an architectural firm that is organized as a South Carolina Limited Liability Company, upon her voluntary departure as an employee of the firm in February 2018. The first appeal involves the dismissal of Appellant's Third-Party Complaint, which attempted to raise a derivative action against four of the largest owners of the Respondent LLC, challenging various self-dealing transactions that they authorized to benefit themselves personally at the expense of the company as a whole. Much of the Statement of the Case set forth below was included verbatim in Appellant's brief in the first appeal.

On February 22, 2019, Respondent, McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC (hereinafter "MPS"), filed the underlying Complaint against Appellant, Donza H. Mattison (hereinafter "Ms. Mattison"), for declaratory judgment seeking a court order forcing the redemption of her membership units as of YE2017 for a price determined by a third-party consultant hired by MPS's management committee in early 2018.

Appellant filed a Verified Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party Complaint on March 4, 2019, raising various affirmative defenses, asserting counterclaims against MPS for breach of contract, judicial valuation of her membership interest, an equitable accounting, and a declaratory judgment. Appellant also included in her Answer a Third-Party Complaint, pleaded as a derivative action on behalf of MPS, against MPS's three managing members, Rondald G. Smith (hereinafter

“R. Smith”), Joseph M. Pazdan (hereinafter “Pazdan”), and Brad B. Smith (hereinafter “B. Smith”), and the company’s COO, Chad C. Cousins (hereinafter “Cousins”), for breach of fiduciary duty and breach of the LLC’s operating agreement. Appellant asserted that the individual Third-Party Defendants approved excessive compensation, bonuses, perquisites and other employment-related benefits for themselves and their family members, and authorized related-party transactions that unfairly enriched themselves at the expense of the firm, well beyond the proportions of their ownership interest in the firm.

On March 11, 2019, Appellant’s counsel submitted a consent motion for case assignment to the Business Court Program for Region 1, which motion was granted by order of Chief Business Court Judge Roger M. Young on March 20, 2019. The case was assigned to the Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge for the Tenth Judicial Circuit in Anderson County.

On April 1, 2019, Respondent and Third-Party Defendants filed a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, seeking to dismiss Ms. Mattison’s Counterclaims and Third-Party Complaint for failure to state a claim. Respondent and Third-Party Defendants argued that the Counterclaims violated the covenant not to sue and the release contained in the Severance Agreement and General Release (hereinafter “Severance Agreement”) that Ms. Mattison signed on December 5, 2017, in connection with her voluntary separation of employment from MPS. Respondent and Third-Party Defendants also asserted that the Third-Party Complaint must be dismissed for failure to meet the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCF, specifically that Ms. Mattison failed to make a valid pre-suit demand on MPS prior to filing the derivative action or to demonstrate the futility of such a demand. They also argued that Ms. Mattison cannot fairly and adequately represent the interests of other similarly situated members of MPS in enforcing the rights of the company.

On April 26, 2019, Appellant filed a motion to disqualify Respondent's counsel from continuing to represent both the Respondent LLC and the individual Third-Party Defendants simultaneously in this action because of the inherent conflict of interest presented. Appellant did not object to Respondent's counsels' continuing to represent just the individual Third-Party Defendants, but requested that independent counsel be hired to represent the Respondent LLC. Appellant also asserted that no financial resources of the Respondent LLC should be used to defend the individual Third-Party Defendants in the derivative action. Shortly before the scheduled hearing date of May 16, 2019 on all pending motions, Appellant agreed to withdraw the motion for disqualification, without prejudice, pending the Court's ruling on the motion to dismiss.

By Order dated July 2, 2019 (following a Form 4 Order on June 14, 2019), Judge McIntosh denied the motion to dismiss the Counterclaims, finding that the release and covenant not to sue in the Severance Agreement applied only to Ms. Mattison's potential employment-related claims, and that the Agreement expressly carved out the redemption of her ownership interests, as well as any potential claims relating to her financial interests as a member of MPS. With respect to the derivative action, Judge McIntosh ruled that a letter sent by Ms. Mattison's counsel to MPS's counsel on January 14, 2019 did not constitute a valid pre-suit demand under Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCF, as a prerequisite to bringing a derivative action, but was instead merely a negotiating position. Judge McIntosh dismissed the derivative action without prejudice, allowing Appellant 30 days to amend both her pre-suit demand and the derivative claims in her Third-Party Complaint. Judge McIntosh held in abeyance the issue of whether Ms. Mattison could fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated members of MPS in enforcing the rights of the LLC, pending further discovery on this issue.

On June 18, 2019, the undersigned counsel for Appellant sent certified letters to the three managing members of MPS formally notifying them of Ms. Mattison's intent to pursue a derivative action on behalf of MPS if the firm did not take appropriate action by July 19, 2019. Thereafter, Ms. Mattison re-filed her Verified Amended Answer, Counterclaims, and Third-Party Complaint on July 30, 2019.

Respondent and Third-Party Defendants filed a second motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, on August 7, 2019, arguing that the derivative action raised in Appellant's Third-Party Complaint should be dismissed for the same reasons stated in their previous motion to dismiss. They argued that the new letter of June 18, 2019 from Appellant's counsel could not be considered a valid pre-suit demand because litigation between Ms. Mattison and MPS was already underway.

The second motion to dismiss was heard by Judge McIntosh on September 10, 2019. The court denied the motion to dismiss by formal Order on October 30, 2019 (following a Form 4 Order on October 10, 2019). The court ruled that the letter of June 18, 2019 was a valid pre-suit demand and that Appellant had properly pleaded the derivative action claims in her Amended Third-Party Complaint. The court reiterated its previous ruling that the issue of whether Ms. Mattison could be a fair and adequate representative in the derivative action could only be addressed after an opportunity for discovery.

Appellant resumed her discovery on the derivative action shortly after the hearing on the second motion to dismiss. On September 23, 2019, Appellant's counsel re-issued six subpoenas duces tecum to third-parties, seeking documents and financial records relating to both Appellant's counterclaims and the derivative action. On October 2, 2019, Respondent and Third-Party Defendants filed a motion for a protective order and to quash the non-party subpoenas. The court

scheduled a hearing on this discovery motion for November 6, 2019.

On October 24, 2019, Appellant filed a Renewed Motion for Disqualification of Plaintiff's Counsel following the entry of the court's Form 4 Order announcing its decision on Respondent's and Third-Party Defendants' motion to dismiss the derivative action. Thereafter, Respondent's counsel specifically requested that the motion for disqualification not be heard during the upcoming hearing on November 6, 2019 because of the serious and consequential nature of the motion. The court scheduled a hearing for December 13, 2019 on the disqualification motion.

During the hearing on November 6, 2019 regarding the non-party subpoenas, the court sua sponte issued a ruling limiting discovery in the case to the issues of valuation of Appellant's ownership interests (including potential normalization of the alleged self-dealing and insider transactions) and whether Appellant could be a fair and adequate representative for the alleged derivative action. The court directed Respondent's counsel to prepare a formal written order, which was apparently signed by Judge McIntosh on November 22, 2019, but was not actually filed until on January 23, 2020.

On December 2, 2019, Respondent's counsel informed Appellant's counsel that Respondent had recently obtained written statements from all of the members of MPS (other than Ms. Mattison) expressing opposition to the derivative action and refusing to support the derivative action. Respondent's counsel provided copies of the statements to Appellant's counsel on December 3, 2019, only after Appellant's counsel agreed that Respondent's counsel could mark the statements as "Confidential." Later on December 3, 2019, Appellant's counsel prepared and served notice of the depositions of six of the minority members of MPS who had signed the member statements. Appellant's counsel scheduled the depositions for three consecutive days (December 17-19, 2019),

the earliest possible dates given the 10-day notice provision of Rule 30(b)(1), SCRCF.

In response to the notice of depositions, Respondent's counsel filed a motion for protective order on December 11, 2019, asserting that the sole purpose of the six depositions was to subject members of MPS to annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, and undue burden and expense. Appellant's counsel filed a brief in opposition to the motion for protective order on December 12, 2019, and offered to waive the 10-day notice requirement under Rule 6(d), SCRCF, so the court could take up the motion for protective order during hearing on the motion for disqualification of counsel, which was already scheduled for the following day, December 13, 2019, at 2:00 p.m.

On the morning of December 13, 2019, the court requested that counsel for the parties be available for an off-the-record telephone conference to discuss the case. During the call, Judge McIntosh indicated that he believed the motion for disqualification of counsel was premature until the court first determined whether Ms. Mattison could fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated members of the LLC in the derivative action. Judge McIntosh did indicate that he would allow the depositions of the six members of the LLC to proceed, but left it to the attorneys to work out the scheduling of the depositions. The court limited the depositions to the subjects previously announced in the court's sua sponte ruling during the hearing on November 6, 2019. At the court's invitation, Appellant's counsel submitted a letter to Judge McIntosh on December 16, 2019, memorializing the court's rulings for the record, since no court reporter was present during the informal telephone conference on the morning of December 13, 2019. Judge McIntosh responded by email on December 17, 2019, stating that Appellant's counsel's summary of the court's rulings during the telephone conference was accurate. The court canceled the hearing scheduled for December 13 based on the telephone conference.

It took over two months to complete the first three depositions of minority members of MPS, because of logistical disputes with Respondent's counsel over where and when the depositions would occur and how long they would be allowed to last. The first three depositions were taken on January 17, 2020, January 29, 2020, and February 19, 2020. After Appellant's counsel requested deposition dates for the three additional minority members from the original notice of December 3, 2019, Respondent filed two motions on February 21, 2020, two days later, seeking to prevent Appellant's derivative action from proceeding further: (1) a motion for protective order to preclude Appellant from conducting any further discovery in the derivative action, specifically including depositions of any other members of MPS and a requested inspection of MPS's office in Spartanburg, SC under Rule 34, SCRCF; and (2) a motion summary judgment and for attorney's fees and costs with respect to the derivative action.

The Court held a hearing on these motions May 12, 2020, via video conference because of the restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Prior to the hearing, Appellant's counsel filed an Affidavit under Rule 56(f), SCRCF, requesting additional discovery before the summary judgment motion was considered. On May 15, 2020, the Court entered a Form 4 order holding the motion for summary judgment on the derivative action in abeyance, pending the taking of three additional depositions of minority members of MPS who were among the six witnesses originally noticed in December 2019. During the summary judgment hearing on May 12, 2020, the Court, again sua sponte, further limited any additional depositions to the issues of whether the minority members even wanted a derivative action to proceed and, if so, whether they wanted Ms. Mattison to be the representative of MPS in such action.

Following the three additional depositions of minority members, which were held on June

17, June 22, and July 10, 2020, Respondent's counsel submitted the full depositions transcripts to the court by email on July 20, 2020. Thereafter, Appellant's counsel requested 30 days to submit supplemental briefing on summary judgment to discuss the new deposition testimony, but Respondent's counsel objected to any further briefing. On July 21, 2020, Judge McIntosh emailed counsel with his decision to allow supplemental briefing within 10 days, with the briefs limited to 20 pages and no exhibits unless approved by the court in advance. In his email of July 21, Judge McIntosh also requested that Respondent's counsel prepare a statement of attorneys' fees and costs associated with defending the derivative action, but the court specifically instructed counsel not to brief the issue of whether an award of attorney's fees was even appropriate at this juncture of the case.

Both sides filed supplemental briefs on Friday, July 31, 2020. On Tuesday, August 4, 2020, the Court entered a Form 4 Order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent and Third-Party Defendants on the derivative action and directing Respondent's counsel to prepare a proposed order, including a provision requiring Appellant to pay Respondent's attorneys' fees and costs relating to defending against the derivative action, but leaving the amount of fees to be determined. Respondent's counsel submitted the proposed order on August 11, 2020. Thereafter, Appellant's counsel sent a letter to Judge McIntosh objecting to the proposed order on August 12, 2020, including the attorney's fee award, which the court had previously instructed the parties not to brief.

Judge McIntosh sent an email to counsel on August 13, 2020, allowing both sides to submit briefs within 10 days on the issue of the propriety of an award of attorneys' fees under either the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure or the contractual documents at issue in the case. Respondent's counsel filed their attorneys' fee brief on Friday, August 21, 2020, and Appellant's

counsel filed his attorneys' fee brief on Monday, August 24, 2020.

On September 22, 2020, the Court entered an order vacating its prior decision to award attorneys' fees and costs in favor of Respondent and Third-Party Defendants.

On September 25, 2020, Respondent's counsel submitted a second proposed order on their motion for summary judgment regarding the derivative action, omitting the award of attorneys' fees. The Summary Judgment Order was signed and filed on September 30, 2020.

Appellant timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend or for Reconsideration of Summary Judgment Order on Monday, October 12, 2020, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRC. The circuit court scheduled a hearing on the motion for October 26, 2020. The court requested briefs to be filed by Friday, October 23, 2020, which were timely filed by both sides. At the conclusion of the hearing on October 26, 2020, the court requested Respondent's counsel to prepare a proposed order denying the motion for reconsideration. Respondent's counsel submitted the proposed order on October 30, 2020. The court signed the Order on November 9, 2020, denying Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion.

Appellant timely served and filed the first Notice of Appeal on December 9, 2020.

On December 11, 2020, Appellant then filed a motion to stay proceedings on the remainder of the case while the appeal was pending, because the outcome of the derivative action was necessary to accurately and completely value Appellant's ownership shares in the LLC, because the same transactions challenged in the derivative action would also need to be considered in the valuation action through the process of normalizing the excessive payments to the majority owners, and because of the conflict of interest faced by Respondent's counsel that was raised in the first appeal.

On December 14, 2020, Respondent file a motion for summary judgment on its own claim for declaratory judgment, despite the fact that almost all of the discovery conducted in this case thus

far related almost entirely to the derivative action and specifically to the issue of whether Appellant could fairly and adequately represent the interests of similarly situated minority owners in pressing the derivative claims on behalf of the company. Respondent did not submit a single affidavit in support of its summary judgment motion, nor did it rely on any testimony in the record from a single party or witness in the case.

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