THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

JAN 20 2022

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS **SC Court of Appeals**  
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit  
Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh

Appellate Case No. 2021-000365  
Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-00998

McMillan Pazdan Smith, LLC, ..... Respondent,  
v.  
Donza H. Mattison, ..... Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Thomas H. Keim, Jr.  
FORD HARRISON  
100 Dunbar Street, Suite 300  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 699-1100

A. Mattison Bogan  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY &  
SCARBOROUGH, LLP  
1320 Main St. / 17th Floor  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

Samuel W. Outten  
Miles E. Coleman  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY &

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

*id.* at 31. The trial court articulated and applied that standard, *see* Order (Feb. 12, 2021) at 6 (R. 43), but this Court need not do so. When, as here, a case involves questions of law, a reviewing court is not required to construe the facts and inferences in favor of the non-movant. *See Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419 S.C. 592, 600 and n.11, 799 S.E.2d 912, 916 and n.11 (2017) (“Because this case requires us to answer a question of law . . . we apply a different standard of review than in the typical fact-based challenge to summary judgment. In *those* situations, we . . . [are] required to view ‘the evidence and all inferences . . . in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party,’ but the ‘interpretation of an unambiguous [text] is a question of law and the Court has a broader scope of review in those instances than when it reviews questions of fact.’”) (citations omitted) (emphasis and alterations added); *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018) (discussing the appellate standard of review of a grant of summary judgment and noting that because interpretations of “contracts and statutes are questions of law, we do not view the evidence in any particular light. Rather, we read the contract or statute to determine if its meaning is clear and unambiguous.”) (citation omitted); *PCS Nitrogen, Inc., v. Continental Casualty Co.*, 429 S.C. 30, 38, 837 S.E.2d 662, 666 (Ct. App. 2019) (same); *see also Marshall v. Dodds*, 426 S.C. 453, 461, 827 S.E.2d 570, 574 (2019); *Nelson v. Piggly Wiggly Central, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 382, 388, 701 S.E.2d 776, 779 (Ct. App. 2010); *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 477, 465 S.E.2d 765, 770 (Ct. App. 1995).

*Third*, Mattison argues that the trial court erred in its interpretation and application of the Severance Agreement by failing to discern the supposedly rigid, mechanical sequence of events she believes is mandated by the language of Section 2(j). *See* Mattison’s Brief at 23–24. Specifically, she argues MPS was required to attempt to mutually determine the value of her shares

*before* it could hire a third-party appraiser to value the company. *See id.* In her view, MPS violated the agreement (and thus released her from it) when it “skipped” the mutual determination and “rush[ed] out and hire[d]” its normal outside appraiser in early 2018 to perform the annual appraisal for YE2017. *Id.* Mattison’s argument fails for a number of reasons. For one, nothing in Section 2(j) or the 2015 Operating Agreement prohibits MPS or its Management Committee from retaining an outside appraiser whenever they wish or from using an outside appraisal as a starting point for the parties’ mutual attempt to determine the value of a member’s shares. In addition, Mattison concedes that MPS *did* attempt to mutually determine the value of her shares, and that any delay in beginning that process was at *her request* while she dealt with personal health issues in early 2018. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 15–17; *see also* Am. Answer ¶¶ 51–55 (R. 109). Accordingly, the trial court did not err by ruling that MPS efforts to value and redeem Mattison’s shares complied with the Severance Agreement and Operating Agreement.

*Fourth*, Mattison argues the trial court erred by failing to conclude that MPS deviated from the procedure set out in the Severance Agreement by declining to provide her with all the financial information she requested. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 25. Contrary to her argument, MPS did, in fact, provide Mattison with extensive financial information before and during the time the parties were attempting to mutually determine the value of her membership shares. Mattison concedes this in the affidavit submitted by her counsel in opposition to MPS’s Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* Rothstein Affidavit (Jan. 12, 2021) ¶¶ 12, 13, 16, 23, 26 (R. 403, 404, 406).<sup>2</sup> MPS provided her with outside auditors reports, financial reviews, tax returns, the general ledger, loan terms, lines of credit, balance sheets, income statements, and profit and loss statements, the records

---

<sup>2</sup> This affidavit was attached to Mattison’s Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, which she filed on January 13, 2021.

of rent payments for the buildings Mattison inquired about, information about members' life insurance policies, HDH's valuations and invoices, communications with HDH, and information provided to HDH.

Further, any remaining information that MPS supposedly refused to provide falls outside the scope of Section 2(j). That section of the Severance Agreement contemplates the exchange of financial documents and information from the "current and prior year" (*i.e.*, 2016 and 2017) that is relevant to the valuation. *See* Severance Agreement ¶ 2(j) (R. 89). Mattison's brief does not identify the documents she believes were wrongly withheld, but the Record reveals that her information requests were far broader than what was envisioned by Section 2(j), seeking documents dating back to 2009 that, contrary to her assertions, are irrelevant to the 2017 value of her shares. *Compare* Rothstein letter to Keim (Aug. 16, 2018) at 1–2 (R. 423–24) (listing 21 categories of financial information that Mattison sought, the majority of which sought information dating back to 2009) *with* Rothstein email to Keim (Nov. 5, 2018) at 1–2 (R. 437–38) (identifying which of the 21 categories of information had not yet been received, most of which involved requests for information dating back to 2009); *see also* Keim email to Rothstein (Nov. 7, 2018) (R. 441–42) (noting that MPS had already provided extensive information in response to the requests and was compiling additional information to provide in response to other requests).<sup>3</sup>

*Fifth*, Mattison's reliance on the 2009 Operating Agreement and on an initial memorandum predating the Severance Agreement are misplaced. *See* Mattison's Brief at 26–27. The trial court correctly determined that the terms of the 2009 Operating Agreement (and Mattison's refusal to sign the 2015 Operating Agreement) are irrelevant because Mattison expressly agreed in the Severance

---

<sup>3</sup> These letters and emails were attached to the affidavit of Mattison's counsel, which was attached to Mattison's Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, which she filed on January 13, 2021.

Agreement that her dissociation would be controlled by the 2015 Operating Agreement. *See* Tr. (Jan. 14, 2021) at 13:22 to 17:12 (R. 181 to 185). Likewise, the trial court determined that the initial memorandum discussing Mattison’s separation that MPS’s Marketing Committee provided to her on November 14, 2017 is irrelevant because it was expressly superseded by the Severance Agreement, which contains a merger clause and comprises the parties’ entire agreement. *See id.* at 28:3–7 (R. 196). The 2009 Operating Agreement and the November 2017 memorandum were irrelevant to the trial court’s analysis, and they are irrelevant to this Court’s review and analysis.

*Sixth*, Mattison argues that the trial court erred by relying on the third sentence of Section 2(j), which incorporates the provisions of the 2015 Operating Agreement, to determine that MPS complied with the parties’ agreed-upon valuation process. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 25–27. That sentence states that the “Proper Dissociation will be handled separately from this Agreement and will be done in accordance with the September 30, 2015 Operating Agreement.” Severance Agreement ¶ 2(j) (R. 89). The 2015 Operating Agreement, in turn, states that if the parties are unable to reach agreement on the value of a departing member’s share, MPS’s management committee may retain an outside appraiser to perform a valuation. *See* 2015 Operating Agreement, Art. I (R. 598).

Mattison, however, argues that the final sentence of Section 2(j) is irrelevant to the question of the valuation of her shares because (according to her) “the phrase ‘proper dissociation’ does not mean ‘valuation,’” and the reference in Section 2(j) to “proper dissociation” and the 2015 Operating Agreement was merely meant to provide a “procedural mechanism” for the timing, interest, and logistics of the redemption of her shares. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 25–27. The trial court correctly rejected this argument:

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, sir. Let me -- let me ask you one thing about the term “proper dissociation.” Isn’t that actually a valuation term?

MR. ROTHSTEIN: It -- it is not. . . .

THE COURT: It is, in fact, a valuation term because if it's improper, then you don't get the full value of your equity, where if it's proper you do, so it is valuation.

Tr. (Jan. 14, 2021) at 46:13 to 47:1 (R. 214–15). The first sentence of Section 2(j) likewise rebuts Mattison's argument by expressly linking the proper dissociation and the value of her shares. *See* Severance Agreement § 2(j) (R. 89) (specifically stating that Mattison's dissociation from MPS "shall be treated as a Proper Dissociation with no penalty or reduction on *the value* of her financial rights") (emphasis added). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in concluding that MPS complied with the procedure and valuation method set out by Section 2(j) and the 2015 Operating Agreement.

**II. The trial court correctly determined that MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment was ripe for consideration.**

Mattison argues that the trial court erred by declining to stay the proceedings on MPS's declaratory judgment claim pending her appeal of the derivative claim and by declining to permit additional discovery before ruling on MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* Mattison's Brief at 19–22, 30–34. Both arguments are incorrect.

**A. The trial court correctly ruled that further discovery was unnecessary before considering and ruling on MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment.**

The trial court correctly rejected Mattison's argument that MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment was premature because more discovery was needed. *See* Order (Feb. 12, 2021) at 6 (R. 43). When (as here) contract language is clear and unambiguous, the contract's language alone determines its meaning, force, and effect, with no need to resort to extrinsic evidence. *Hunt v. Forestry Commission*, 358 S.C. 564, 569, 595 S.E.2d 846, 848 (Ct. App. 2004); *Valley Pub. Serv. Auth. v. Beech Island Rural Cmty. Water Dist.*, 319 S.C. 488, 493, 462 S.E.2d 296, 299 (Ct. App. 1995). Mattison's counsel participated in the negotiation and drafting of the Severance

Agreement; Mattison conceded in her pleading that the agreement is valid and binding; and her counsel conceded to the trial court that the agreement is clear. *See* Am. Answer ¶¶ 49, 61 (R. 109, 110); Tr. (Jan. 14, 2021) at 41:19–20 (R. 209); Tr. (March 16, 2021) at 27:11–13 (R. 259). Accordingly, the trial court did not err by concluding that discovery as to the parties’ supposed intent was unnecessary before considering and ruling on MPS’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

**B. The trial court’s Order refusing to stay the case is not before this Court and, in any event, was not erroneous.**

As an initial matter, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Mattison’s argument that the trial court erred by denying her Motion to Stay. *See generally* Mattison’s Brief at 19–22. Mattison did not appeal from that Order. *See* Notice of Appeal (April 1, 2021). Because she did not appeal from the Order denying her Motion to Stay, she cannot argue the trial court erred by denying it or by refusing to stay the proceedings on MPS’s declaratory judgment claim and her related counterclaims pending her appeal of the derivative action. *See* Rules 203(d)(1)(B)(ii) and 203(e)(1)(c), SCACR.

Even if this Court had jurisdiction to consider the Order denying the Motion to Stay, the trial court did not err by denying that motion and granting summary judgment because, as the court noted, the equity claim is not affected by the appeal of the derivative claim. *See* Order (Feb. 9, 2021) at 2 (R. 37); *see also* Rules 205 and 241, SCACR. The appeal of the derivative claim asks whether the trial court correctly decided the threshold question that Mattison could not fairly and adequately represent the members of MPS. In contrast, the declaratory judgment claim and Mattison’s counterclaims involve completely different issues—namely, how the parties agreed in the Severance Agreement that Mattison’s equity would be valued and the method of valuation provided by the September 30, 2015 Operating Agreement. Those issues are distinct from and will not be affected by the outcome of the appeal of the derivative claim.

In addition, a stay is not warranted because the derivative claim and the equity valuation claims are legally and factually distinct. The claims have different elements; different burdens; rely on different precedent; and seek different relief. Further, as the trial court correctly concluded, even assuming Mattison could prevail on one or both of her appeals, she is capable of receiving complete relief even if the claims proceed separately but simultaneously. *See* Order (Feb. 9, 2021) at 1 (R. 36). Accordingly, Mattison was not prejudiced by the declaratory judgment claim continuing because the relief she seeks in the derivative action will still be available no matter what the outcome of the declaratory judgment claim regarding the value of her equity. Resolution of the equity claim simply involves Mattison receiving payment for the value of her equity interest in MPS. Resolution of that claim has no effect on the relief that Mattison seeks in the derivative action. The reverse is also true: Any relief she might receive from the appeal of her derivative claim will be available to her regardless of whether the declaratory judgment claim has already been disposed of.

In sum, even if this Court had jurisdiction to review a ruling that Mattison did not appeal, the trial court did not err in denying Mattison’s Motion to Stay and proceeding to consider and rule on MPS’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

**III. Mattison’s arguments regarding the discounting of her shares and the availability of pre-judgment interest are unpreserved do not warrant any relief.**

Mattison argues that the trial court erred by failing to award her pre-judgment interest on the amount MPS was to pay her for her shares and by allowing MPS to discount the value of her shares for lack of control and marketability. *See* Mattison’s Brief at 34–39. She never raised either of these arguments to the trial court prior to its ruling. Accordingly, they are not preserved for appellate review. *See Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009) (“An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.”); *Dixon v. Dixon*,

362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (holding an issue raised for the first time in a Rule 59, SCRCP motion is not preserved for appellate review).

Neither Mattison's Memorandum in Opposition to MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment nor her arguments presented at the hearing on that motion discussed the discounting of her shares' value for lack of marketability and control. It appears the only time she even mentioned the topic during this litigation was in her affidavit earlier in the case opposing MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment on her derivative claim. Even then, however, she noted that when she and others purchased shares in MPS's predecessor in 1997, those shares were not discounted for lack of marketability or control. *See* Mattison Affidavit (May 14, 2020) at ¶ 5 (R. 702). She did not state in her affidavit that MPS's third-party appraiser's valuation of her shares erred by discounting them for lack of marketability and control, nor did her affidavit even mention any recent discounting of her shares. Rather, she first raised the argument in her Motion to Alter or Amend. Arguments first raised in a Motion to Alter or Amend, of course, are not preserved for appellate review. *Johnson*, 381 S.C. at 177, 672 S.E.2d at 570; *Dixon*, 362 S.C. at 399, 608 S.E.2d at 854.

Similarly, neither in her Memorandum in Opposition to MPS's Motion for Summary Judgment nor in the arguments presented at the hearing on that motion did Mattison request or raise the issue of pre-judgment interest. Rather, she first raised the issue in her Motion to Alter or Amend. Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. *Johnson*, 381 S.C. at 177, 672 S.E.2d at 570; *Dixon*, 362 S.C. at 399, 608 S.E.2d at 854.

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